ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Charleston County

Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

OCT 30 2014

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

SHAWN J. BURRIS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-001035

\_\_\_\_\_  
FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LANELLE CANTEY DURANT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err in denying Appellant Burris' motion for a directed verdict when the state did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt, by calling an expert to testify, that the alleged nonferrous metal piping was copper and did not contain a significant amount of iron as required by S.C. Code Section 16-11-523?

2. Did the trial court err in allowing the state's witness to testify as to the approximate dollar amount of the damages to the Bi-Lo refrigeration unit which was not an element required by S.C. Code Section 16-11-523 because the statute only required an amount of five thousand dollars or more?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 9, 2012, the Charleston County Grand Jury indicted Shawn Justin Burris on the charges of the unlawful obtaining of non-ferrous metals and possession of tools of a crime. On April 25, 2013, Burris proceeded to trial before the Honorable Kristi Lea Harrington and a jury. Burris represented himself *pro se*, with Luke Malloy, Lorelle Proctor and Ted Smith serving as stand-by counsel. The state was represented by Richard Waring and Culver Kidd. The jury returned a verdict of guilty on both charges as indicted. Judge Harrington sentenced Burris to ten years on the unlawful obtaining of non-ferrous metals and five years on the possession of tools of a crime with both to run concurrent. Burris filed a notice of appeal. This appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On April 26, 2012, Jesse Gay, who worked the night shift at Bi-Lo in Charleston, heard noises on the roof around 5:00 a.m. He called the alarm company who called 911 as was the policy. R. 41, ll. 9 – 22; R. 46, ll. 3 – R. 49, ll. 24. When the police arrived, they saw a person on the roof who appeared to be stacking something. R. 42, ll. 1 - 5; R. 59, ll. 21 -R. 62, ll. 5. Officer Anthony Doxey and Sergeant Bullard entered the Bi-Lo, and made contact with the employees. The officers then went onto the roof through a hatch door inside the building. R. 87, ll. 1 – R. 88, ll. 24.

The officers found Burris under the air conditioner wearing gloves with a backpack nearby with tools in it. There was a stack of what the officer thought to be copper pipe apparently cut from the air conditioner. R. 89, ll. 20 – R. 94, ll. 18. Burris was arrested and charged with the unlawful obtaining of nonferrous metals and possession of tools of a crime. R. 95, ll. 1 – 24; Indictment 2013-GS-10-4289; Indictment 2012-GS-10-4290.

At trial, Burris represented himself with Luke Malloy, Esquire, assisting him. R. 7, ll. 8 – R. 15, ll. 8. Pretrial, the judge asked the state if they were alleging that the damage was \$10,000 since the indictment said \$10,000 or more. The solicitor replied:

Mr. WARING: Your Honor, the state wasn't really going to get into the actual specific damage, the cost of it, until the sentencing phase. And if he is convicted, we're just going to go into the general amount of damage.

The COURT: All right.

Mr. WARING: Because the cost damage is not one of the elements of the crime of unlawful obtaining nonferrous metals or possess of burglary tools.

R. 11, ll. 8 – 21.

The judge went on to explain to Burris that the indictment indicated the amount of property loss which went to punishment. She stated that the amount was not an element of the offense but just went to punishment. She explained that less than \$5000 was a misdemeanor and over \$5000 was a felony. Burris did not object to the indictment being read to the jury. It alleged an amount of \$10,000 or more. R. 12, ll. 8 – R. 13, ll. 12.

When the judge inquired about pretrial motions, Burris moved to suppress any and all reference to the damages related to this case until sentencing. The state stated again that he was not planning “on actually getting into specific details about monetary loss until, if and when he was convicted, at the sentencing phase.” R. 21, ll. 1 - 24, ll. 25.

The judge told Burris that the state had to show some damage and to do that, they had to show some costs associated with the damage. R. 25, ll. 1 – 10. The judge then stated:

And so, Mr. Burris, there will be, assuming we get to the stage that the jury finds you guilty, we will have an opportunity ---the Bi-Lo representative to come in and present testimony as to whether it was over \$5000 or under \$5000. Do you understand?

R. 25, ll. 11 – 17.

During the state’s case, David Owca, who was the store director or manager of the Bi-Lo involved in the incident, testified that the defendant caused massive amounts of damage. R. 177, ll. 10 – R. 181, ll. 25. On redirect, the solicitor asked Mr. Owca to tell the jury the extent of the damage moneywise. Burris objected because of the prior motion not to do that until sentencing. The judge overruled the objection and allowed it. Mr. Owca then stated the cost of the damage was approximately \$189,000. The solicitor asked him to break that down. Mr. Owca testified that the evaporator units on the roof had to be replaced at \$30000 each. The freon cost \$48000. The lost products, the extra labor, extra time, bringing

in freezer trucks from Greenville. It all added up to about \$189000. R. 192, ll. 17 – R. 193, ll. 25.

On cross examination, Burris asked the witness how many days it took to repair. Mr. Owca said immediate repairs took three days but long term took longer. He did not know that Bo-Lo representatives presented invoices to the police on the day of Burris' arrest for the damage done to the store. The date was October 24, 2011. Mr. Owca said those invoices were for a different store. Burris said they were used at his bond hearing. R. 184, ll. 20 – R. 190, ll. 25.

Mr. Owca said that two units had to be replaced. He then admitted that the units were not replaced for three to four months. They still worked but had been compromised when they were cut open and would have to be replaced eventually. R. 192, ll. 1 – 18.

On re-cross, Burris asked Mr. Owca if they were trying to make up losses from other stores. Burris showed him Defendant's Exhibit 25 which had an invoice for the Kru-Kel which was Mr. Owca's other store in North Charleston. It showed he purchased 160 units of R22 (Freon) at \$142.50 each. Burris then showed him Defendant's Exhibit 27 which showed a purchase for Kru-Kel for 160 units of R22 at \$285 each. The witness replied that Freon went up in the six month period. R. 194, ll. 6 – R. 195, ll. 21.

At the close of the state's case, Burris moved for a directed verdict on the grounds that the state had not proved the elements of the statute because the state had not proved that the material was nonferrous. According to the statute, nonferrous meant that it did not contain a significant amount of iron. Burris argued that the state had not proved the composition of the pipes or that they were copper. The state replied that they had presented ample evidence that the pipes were copper because the store manager had worked at the

store for a while and knew they were copper. The state argued that the police officers said they were copper. The state did not believe they needed an expert to say the pipes were copper. R. 196, ll. 23 – R. 197, ll. 25.

Burris argued that the Bi-Lo manager was not qualified to state the pipes were metal or iron or anything of the sort. The judge reviewed cursorily the testimony of the witnesses, and then denied the directed verdict motion. R. 198, ll. 1 – R. 200, ll. 25.

The defense did not present any testimony. After the defense rested, Burris renewed his directed verdict motion which the judge denied. The judge said he had waived his motion for a directed verdict since the case had already gone to the jury, but she allowed him to put his directed verdict motion on the record. Burris' motion was based on his same previous grounds. R. 219, ll. 1 – 22.

## ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in denying Appellant Burris' motion for a directed verdict when the state did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt, by calling an expert to testify, that the alleged nonferrous metal piping was copper and did not contain a significant amount of iron as required by S.C. Code Section 16-11-523.

South Carolina Code Section 16-11-523 concerns "obtaining nonferrous metals unlawfully; disruption of communication or electrical service." The statute provides:

For purposes of this section, "nonferrous metals" means metals not containing significant quantities of iron or steel, including, but not limited to, copper wire, copper clad steel wire, copper pipe, copper bars, copper sheeting, aluminum other than aluminum cans, a product that is a mixture of aluminum and copper, catalytic converters, lead-acid batteries, steel propane gas tanks, and stainless steel beer kegs or containers.

In State v. Hepburn, 406 S.C. 416, 753 S.E.2d 402 (2013), the Supreme Court summarized the standard for a directed verdict: In cases where the state has failed to present evidence of the offense charged, a criminal defendant is entitled to a directed verdict. State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 606 S.E.2d 475 (2004). During trial, when ruling on a motion for a directed verdict, the trial court is concerned with the existence or nonexistence of evidence, not its weight citing. Id. at 593, 606 S.E.2d at 477-78. The trial court should grant the directed verdict motion when the evidence merely raises a suspicion that the accused is guilty, as suspicion implies a belief or opinion as to guilt based upon facts or circumstances which do not amount to proof. State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. at 594, 606 S.E.2d at 478 (2004). On the other hand, a trial judge is not required to find that the evidence infers guilt to the exclusion of any other reasonable hypothesis. Id.

In State v. Bostick, 392 S.C. 134, 708 S.E.2d 774 (2011), the Supreme Court held that the state presented insufficient evidence to submit the murder charge to the jury. The Court held that the trial court should have granted a directed verdict because the state's evidence only raised a "suspicion of guilt." Bostick was charged with the murder of his neighbor, who was an older woman. The evidence against Bostick consisted of items (car keys, calculator) belonging to the victim which were found in the Bostick family's burn pile; the fire accelerant in the burn pile was one not used by Bostick's mother; Bostick had a pattern on his shoes that matched the accelerant which was gasoline; the blood found on Bostick's jeans did not match the victim's.

In State v. Attardo, 263 S.C. 546, 211 S.E.2d 868 (1975), the Supreme Court held that a basic principle of law is that the state has the burden of proof as to all of the essential elements of the crime. Citing State v. Paulk, 18 S.C. 514, (1883).

The state did not present evidence that the material contained only copper and not iron or steel or any other product. The evidence only raised a suspicion that the material was copper or nonferrous. The statute plainly states that nonferrous metal does not contain significant quantities of iron or steel. The state did not prove this required element of the statute beyond a reasonable doubt. The Bi-Lo store manager nor the police officers were qualified to say what the metal contained or the quantities of the ingredients in it. The state needed to present an expert who could have tested the pipe to determine its ingredients. The directed verdict should have been granted.

## ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in allowing the state's witness to testify as to the approximate dollar amount of the damages to the Bi-Lo refrigeration unit which was not an element required by S.C. Code Section 16-11-523 because the statute only required an amount of five thousand dollars or more.

South Carolina Code 16-11-523 (C ) (2) provides:

A person who violates a provision of this section is guilty of a felony and, upon conviction, must be fined in the discretion of the court or imprisoned not more than ten years, or both, if the direct injury to the property, the amount of loss in value to the property, the amount of repairs necessary to return the property to its condition before the act, or the property loss, including fixtures or improvements, is five thousand dollars or more.

The state has the burden of proof as to all of the essential elements of the crime.

State v. Brannon, 388 S.C. 498, 697 S.E.2d 593 (2010).

The specific amount of damage was not an element of the crime. The state told the court that the specific amount was not an element but was appropriate for sentencing. The judge told Burris that the state could allege an amount over or under \$5000 but the specific amount would be for sentencing. Then the judge allowed the state's witness to tell the jury the specific amounts of the damages for different repairs needed. This was prejudicial to Burris especially after he had not been convicted at that point.

Rule 403, SCRE, provides that relevant evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.