ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal From Charleston County  
The Honorable Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2013-001035

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

SHAWN J. BURRIS,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
SC Bar No. 5098

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

SCARLETT A. WILSON  
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

101 Meeting Street  
Charleston, SC 29401  
(843) 958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

OCT 29 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. The circuit court properly denied Appellant's directed verdict motion because the evidence that the pipe at issue was copper pipe was undisputed.

II. The circuit court properly overruled Appellant's objection to testimony regarding the dollar amount of damages caused by cutting the copper pipes of the Bi-Lo refrigeration unit because Appellant opened the door to the testimony during his cross-examination of the witness by suggesting the store had inflated the amount of damages, and any error in allowing the testimony was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Respondent concurs with Appellant's procedural Statement of the Case.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In July, 2012, the Charleston County Grand Jury indicted Appellant Shawn J. Burris, on one count of unlawful obtaining of nonferrous metals with \$10,000 or more in damages, and one count of possession of tools of a crime arising from the theft of copper pipes from the rooftop refrigeration unit of a Bi-Lo grocery store on April 26, 2012. The case was called for a jury trial on April 25, 2013, before the Honorable Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge. Appellant appeared *pro se*, with stand-by counsel sitting with him throughout the trial.

Prior to trial, the circuit court indicated Appellant was not waiving arraignment on the indictments, so the entire indictments would be read during the arraignment, and asked the State if was alleging damages in the amount of \$10,000 or more. The State informed the court it did not intend to “get into the actual specific damage, the cost of it, until the sentencing phase.” (Trial Transcript [TT], p. 11; Record on Appeal [R.], p. 11).

In response to a subsequent motion to exclude testimony regarding the amount of damages, the State reiterated it did not intend to get into the specific amount of damages until sentencing, but asserted the fact there was damage to the store was part of the nonferrous metals offense. The circuit court noted the State was required to show damage occurred, which necessary required showing some monetary costs involved, and ruled the State would be allowed to present evidence to establish it. (TT, pp. 40-43; R., pp. 22-25).

A Bi-Lo employee testified he was working the nightshift on April 26, 2012, heard an unusual noise on the roof, which sounded like something banging against a metal pipe. He called the store security company, which contacted law enforcement.

When police officers arrived, he gave them access to the roof through a hatch inside the store. (TT, pp. 64-70; R., pp. 46-52).

Officer Tony Bunch of the Charleston Police Department testified he responded to a dispatch call at the Bi-Lo at approximately 5:00 a.m. on April 26, 2012. When he arrived, he walked around the building and saw a man on the roof, who appeared to be moving from one side to the other like he was stacking something. Officer Bunch radioed for assistance and helped establish a perimeter. He stated officers went inside and up to the roof, where they found Appellant, some tools and a duffle bag, and some copper piping that had been cut. (TT, pp. 78-84; R., pp. 60-66).

Officer Anthony Doxey of the North Charleston Police Department testified he also responded to the call at Bi-Lo regarding someone on the roof. After other officers arrived and secured the scene, he and another officer went inside and accessed the roof through a maintenance hatch at the back of the store. When they came out onto the roof, they saw a stack of copper pipe that had been cut from the store's refrigeration unit, and found Appellant laying underneath an air conditioning unit. Rather than voluntarily coming out when ordered to do so, Appellant began crawling away from the officers, and they had to drag him out. Appellant was wearing gloves, and a backpack, containing a hacksaw, a can of spray paint and some vise grips, was laying on the roof a few feet from where he was hiding. No one else was on the roof. (TT, pp. 104-116, State's Exhibits 4, 5, 6 [Photos]; R., pp. 86-98).<sup>1</sup>

Officer Robert Coker of the North Charleston Police Department testified he was the crime scene investigator called to the Bi-Lo after Appellant was apprehended. He

---

<sup>1</sup>These exhibits have been transported to the Court for consideration.

photographed the scene, including photographs showing the pieces of cut copper pipes. He also stated a camera and motion sensor on the roof were sprayed over with red paint, and a can of red spray paint was found in a bag on the roof. Tools found in blue backpack were consistent with the cuts on the copper pipes, and a blue duffle bag found on the roof was large enough to hold cut copper pipes. (TT, pp. 135-150; R., pp. 117-132).

The Bi-Lo store manager testified there was “massive amounts of damage” caused by Appellant cutting the copper pipes from the refrigeration unit. He stated the overall effect to the store was “catastrophic.” (TT, pp. 195-202; R., pp. 177-184).

On cross-examination, Appellant questioned the manager about some invoices regarding the damages Bi-Lo loss prevention officers purportedly provided to law enforcement the day Appellant was arrested, and indicated some of the documents were not even related to the Bi-Lo store in question. (TT, pp. 203-210; R., pp. 185-192). On re-direct, the State asked about the dollar amount of damages to his store, and over Appellant’s objection, the manager testified the total damages were approximately \$189,000. On re-cross, Appellant asked the manager if Bi-Lo was “just trying to make up for losses from other stores.” (TT, pp. 210-213; R., pp. 192-195).

After the State rested its case, Appellant moved for a directed verdict on the ground the State failed to put up expert testimony indicating the cut pipes were nonferrous metals, or that they did not contain iron. In denying the motion, the circuit court noted the police officers’ testimony there were copper pipes cut from the refrigeration unit stacked up on the roof when they apprehended Appellant. (TT, pp. 214-218; R., pp. 196-200).

The jury convicted Appellant of both charges, and the circuit court sentenced him to concurrent terms of ten years incarceration on the nonferrous metals conviction, and five years incarceration on the tools conviction. (TT, p. 253; R. p. 228). This appeal followed.<sup>2</sup>

---

<sup>2</sup>Appellant does not challenge on appeal the possession of tools of a crime conviction.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The circuit court properly denied Appellant's directed verdict motion because the evidence that the pipe at issue was copper pipe was undisputed.**

Appellant asserts the circuit court erred in denying his directed verdict motion because the State failed to prove through expert testimony that the metal piping at issue was copper, and did not contain a significant amount of iron. The evidence was undisputed, however, that the pipes were copper refrigeration pipes.

When ruling on a directed verdict motion, the trial court is concerned with the existence or nonexistence of evidence, not its weight. State v. Gaines, 380 S.C. 23, 667 S.E.2d 728, 732-33 (2008). In reviewing the denial of a directed verdict motion, the appellate court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State, and the appellate court is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. State v. Brown, 402 S.C. 119, 740 S.E.2d 493, 495 (2013); State v. Gilliland, 402 S.C. 389, 741, S.E.2d 521, 525 (Ct. App. 2012). If there is any direct evidence, or substantial circumstantial evidence, reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, the appellate court must find the case was properly submitted to the jury. Brown, 740 S.E.2d at 495; State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494, 500 (2005); Gilliland 741 S.E.2d at 525.

In denying Appellant's directed verdict motion, the circuit court cited police officers' testimony that when they apprehended Appellant, they saw copper pipes stacked on the roof that had been cut from the store refrigeration system, and Appellant had tools in his possession that could be used to cut copper. The court also cited the store manager's testimony regarding the damage caused by the cut copper pipes, which put

approximately 60% of the store's inventory in jeopardy. (TT, pp. 214-218; R., pp. 196-200).

Appellant misconstrues the language of the applicable statute regarding nonferrous metals. He contends the statute requires proof the copper pipes did not include a significant quantity of iron or steel. Read in context, however, the statute expressly defines copper pipes as nonferrous metals.

“Nonferrous metals” are defined as “metals not containing significant quantities of iron or steel, **including**, but not limited to, copper wire, copper clad steel wire, **copper pipe**, . . . .” S.C. Code Ann. §16-11-523(A) (Supp. 2013) (emphasis added). Thus, by statutory definition, copper pipe is a “nonferrous metal” that does not contain significant quantities of iron or steel.

Viewed in the light most favorable to the State, the undisputed evidence in this case established the pipes cut from Bi-Lo's refrigeration unit were copper pipes. The circuit court's denial of Appellant's directed verdict motion is amply supported by the record, and should be affirmed.

**II. The circuit court properly overruled Appellant's objection to testimony regarding the dollar amount of damages caused by cutting the copper pipes of the Bi-Lo refrigeration unit because Appellant opened the door to the testimony during his cross-examination of the witness by suggesting the store had inflated the amount of damages, and any error in allowing the testimony was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.**

Appellant contends the circuit court erred in allowing the Bi-Lo manager to testify to the actual amount of damages to the store. Appellant opened the door to the testimony at issue during his cross-examination of the store manager. Further, any error in admitting the testimony was harmless.

The admission or exclusion of evidence is committed to the sound discretion of the trial court, and will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. State v. Morris, 376 S.C. 189, 656 S.E.2d 359, 368 (2008); State v. McEachern, 399 S.C. 125, 731 S.E.2d 604, 609 (Ct. App.2012). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's decision is based on an error of law or upon factual findings that are without evidentiary support. McEachern, 731 S.E.2d at 609.

#### **A. Opening the Door**

When a party introduces evidence about a particular matter, the other party is entitled to introduce evidence in explanation or rebuttal thereof, even if the latter evidence would have been incompetent or irrelevant had it been offered initially. State v. Jackson, 364 S.C. 329, 336, 613 S.E.2d 374, 377 (2005); McEachern, 731 S.E.2d at 610. "It is firmly established that otherwise inadmissible evidence may be properly admitted when opposing counsel opens the door to that evidence." State v. Page, 378 S.C. 476, 663 S.E.2d 357, 360 (Ct.App. 2008).

The indictment alleged Appellant's actions caused \$10,000 or more in damages, which made the offense a felony under S.C. Code Ann. §16-11-523(C)(2) (Supp. 2013) (violation of the statute is a felony if the amount of damages is \$5000 or more). During the pre-trial hearing, Appellant asserted Bi-Lo submitted a false statement regarding the store damages, and moved to exclude testimony regarding the amount of damages. The State indicated it did not intend to go into the specific amount of damages until sentencing, but did plan to prove some amount of damages as part of the *res gestae* of the offense. The circuit court ruled the State could present evidence the copper pipe was cut, mutilated or otherwise injured, which necessarily included some cost associated with the damage. (TT, pp. 40-43; R., pp. 22-25).

During the store manager's direct examination, the State did not elicit any testimony regarding the specific amount of damages, but merely asked the manager to describe the damages, the steps the store undertook to mitigate the damages, and the overall effect on the store, which the manager described as "catastrophic."<sup>3</sup> On cross-examination, however, Appellant referenced "invoices" Bi-Lo's loss prevention officers submitted to law enforcement that were purportedly used at Appellant's bond and preliminary hearings. After the manager testified some of the documents Appellant showed him related to a different store, Appellant asked why the documents were presented in the case against him, and the manager testified he did not know what

---

<sup>3</sup> The State does not concede, and the circuit court did not rule, evidence of the specific amount of damages Appellant caused was irrelevant to the State's case-in-chief, or unduly prejudicial to Appellant. The indictment alleged damages of \$10,000 or more, and therefore, the State had to put in some evidence indicating the damages were substantial. The State merely indicated it did not intend to go into the specific amount until sentencing, and complied with that stated intention through the store manager's direct examination.

invoices the loss prevention officers submitted. Appellant then asked questions about the dates work at the store occurred, clearly implying some of the work was not related to removal of the copper pipes. (TT, pp. 195-210; R., pp. 177-192).

On re-direct, the State asked the manager about the dollar amount of damages to the store. Over Appellant's objection, the manager testified the damages were approximately \$189,000, and gave a list of things included in that amount. On re-cross, Appellant asked the manager if Bi-Lo was just trying to "make up for losses at other stores." (TT, pp. 210-213; R., pp. 192-195).

By questioning the veracity of Bi-Lo's damages submissions, Appellant clearly attacked the store manager's credibility regarding the "catastrophic" damages sustained as a result of Appellant's actions. At a minimum, this tactic opened the door to testimony regarding the actual amount of damages, and what was included in it, to show the store manager's testimony regarding the "catastrophic" damages was credible and valid.

Appellant asserts "[t]he judge and the state violated their word to [Appellant]." Contrary to this assertion, the circuit court never ruled the specific amount of damages was inadmissible, and as indicated pre-trial, the State did not present evidence of the specific amount during the store manager's direct testimony. Appellant's implication the store fabricated the amount of damages changed the situation, the State had a right to elicit testimony in response, and Appellant cannot claim he was deceived in any way.

#### **B. Harmless Error**

Assuming for purposes of argument only that admitting the testimony at issue was improper, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Error is harmless where it could not have reasonably affected the result of the trial, and appellate courts will not set aside judgments due to insubstantial errors not affecting the result. Way v. State, \_\_\_

S.C. \_\_\_, \_\_\_ S.E.2d \_\_\_, 2014 WL 4347510, \*4 (S.C. Sup. Ct. 2014) The materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case. *Id.*

“It is unlawful for a person to willfully and maliciously cut, mutilate, deface, or otherwise injury any personal or real property, including any fixtures or improvements, for the purpose of obtaining nonferrous metals in any amount.” S.C. Code Ann. §16-11-523(B) (Supp. 2013). As noted above, Appellant was indicted for causing \$10,000 or more in damages by cutting, defacing, or otherwise injuring the Bi-Lo store property for the purpose of obtaining nonferrous metals.

The indictment was read in front of the jury panel because Appellant requested formal arraignment before the case proceeded to trial. (TT, pp. 11-13, 17-18; R., pp. 11-13, 17-18). Therefore, the jury knew the alleged damages were \$10,000 or more, and the store manager testified the effect on the store was “catastrophic.”

Regardless of the damages amount, the jury had to determine if Appellant willfully and maliciously caused the damages for the purpose of obtaining nonferrous metals. Whether the damages were \$1, \$10,000, or \$189,000, the issue before the jury did not change, and any error in admitting testimony regarding the actual amount of damages was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

**CONCLUSION**

Based on the foregoing, Respondent submits Appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
SC Bar No. 5098

SCARLETT A. WILSON  
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit